
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © (enb@iisd.org) is written and edited by Paola Bettelli (pbettelli@iisd.org), Chad Carpenter (chadc@iisd.org), Valerie Colas
(vcolas@iisd.org), Angela Churie (churie@l.kth.se), Lavanya Rajamani (lavanya.rajamani@hertford.ox.ac.uk) and Chris Spence (spencechris@hotmail.com). The Editor is
Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. (pam@iisd.org) and the Managing Editor is Langston James "Kimo" Goree (kimo@iisd.org). The WWW Content Editor is Peter Doran
(pfdoran@ecology.u-net.com). Digital engineering by Andrei Henry (ahenry@iisd.ca), David Fernau (david@virtualstockholm.net) and Jeff Anderson (janderson@iisd.ca).
French translation by Mongi Gadhoum (mongi.gadoum@enb.intl.tn). Logistics coordinated by Molly Rosenman (mrosenman@iisd.org) and Kevin Cooney
(kcooney@uclink4.berkeley.edu). The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the
United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape, and the United Kingdom Department for International Development (DFID).
General Support for the Bulletin during 1999 is provided by the German Federal Ministry of Environment (BMU) and the German Federal Ministry of Development
Cooperation (BMZ), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Community (DG- XI), the Ministries of Environment and Foreign Affairs of Austria, the Ministries
of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Ministry of Environment of Finland, the Government of Sweden, the United Nations
Development Programme (UNDP), the Global Environment Facility (GEF) and the Ministry for the Environment in Iceland. Specific funding for this meeting has been
provided by the UNFCCC Secretariat. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at (enb@iisd.org) and at tel: +1-212- 644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. IISD can be contacted
by e-mail at (info@iisd.ca) and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are
those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial
publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Managing Editor. Electronic
versions are sent to e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/. The satellite image by The Living Earth, Inc., at
http://www.livingearth.com. For information on the ENB, send e-mail to (enb@iisd.org). 

P ub lish ed  by  the  In te rna tion a l Ins titu te  fo r  S u sta ina b le  D ev e lo pm en t (I IS D )Vol. 12 No. 107 W ednesday, 9  June 1999

Earth Negotiations Bulletin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development NegotiationsIIS

D
SBs-99

#9 

HIGHLIGHTS FROM THE MEETINGS OF THE 
FCCC SUBSIDIARY BODIES

TUESDAY, 8 JUNE 1999
The morning meeting of the joint contact group on the Protocol 

mechanisms was interrupted by a second bomb threat to the 
Maritim Hotel. The contact group reconvened later in the morning 
and afternoon. The Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technolog-
ical Advice (SBSTA) met in the afternoon to consider draft conclu-
sions on research and systematic observation and the work 
programme on methodological issues. The Joint Working Group 
(JWG) on compliance met in the afternoon to consider a Co-
Chair’s draft work programme. Contact groups were convened on 
non-Annex I communications and land use, land-use change and 
forestry (LULUCF).  

SBSTA
On the draft conclusions on research and systematic observa-

tion (FCCC/SBSTA/1999/L.2), the EU requested deleting the para-
graph on SBSTA’s invitation to GEF to include, in its report to the 
COP, the specific steps it has taken to implement the provisions of 
paragraph 1(c) of decision 2/CP.4 (guidance to the operating entity 
of the financial mechanism), stating that it was addressed else-
where. CHINA, supported by the CENTRAL AFRICAN 
REPUBLIC, said important decisions sometimes have to be reiter-
ated until they are implemented. The US stated that, if included, the 
paragraph should reflect the whole decision and not just a part of it. 
The EU proposed requesting GEF to report to the COP on its 
funding for developing countries to build capacity for participation 
in systematic observation networks. Delegates adopted the draft 
conclusions as amended.

Regarding the draft conclusions on the work programme on 
methodological issues related to Protocol Articles 5 (methodolo-
gies), 7 (communication), and 8 (review of information) (FCCC/
SBSTA/1999/L.3), the EU requested changing the date of submis-
sion from 15 August to 15 September to allow time for preparation.  
Chair Chow said the current deadline meant Parties could receive 
the compiled views prior to COP-5. Delegates adopted the draft 
conclusions without any amendments.

JOINT WORKING GROUP ON COMPLIANCE
The co-chairs proposed a draft work programme on procedures 

and mechanisms relating to compliance under the Protocol (FCCC/
SB/1999/CRP.2). Under the proposal, the Joint Working Group 
(JWG) invites Parties to make submissions to the Secretariat by 15 
August 1999 in response to questions contained in an annex to the 
proposal. These submissions will be compiled in a miscellaneous 
document. The JWG also requests the co-chairs to produce, for 

consideration by JWG-2, a synthesis of proposals by Parties that 
would update the non-paper prepared by the Secretariat for this 
session. The JWG also agrees that an informal discussion on work 
under the SBI/SBSTA and experience under other conventions 
would help Parties better understand the compliance system 
needed. The JWG co-chairs will organize the discussion. 

On a deadline for Parties to respond to a questionnaire on 
compliance, Co-Chair Dovland (Norway) noted that the 15 August 
1999 deadline was intended to allow Parties as much time as 
possible but would render translation of documents in time for 
COP-5 impossible. He indicated that an earlier deadline would not 
only facilitate translation, but also revisions of the synthesis of 
submissions by Parties to update the current version. After an 
extended discussion, 1 August 1999 was agreed as the deadline. 
SWITZERLAND proposed including a reference to Decision 8/
CP.4 (Preparations for the COP serving as the MOP) so that Parties 
prepare their submissions bearing it in mind and asked whether the 
co-chairs intended to prepare a more “legally oriented” text based 
on the synthesis. The US amended the proposal so that Parties 
address additional Decision 8/CP.4 issues to the extent that they are 
not otherwise covered by their submissions. 

On the nature and timing of the proposed informal exchange of 
information, the G-77/CHINA, supported by SAUDI ARABIA and 
IRAN, preferred holding it after COP-5, but before the twelfth 
sessions of the subsidiary bodies (SB-12). She said the discussion 
should have clearly defined objectives and should not reach conclu-
sions or form the basis for any documents. Participants should be 
primarily government experts. SWITZERLAND suggested the co-
chairs develop terms of reference for the informal discussions. 
AOSIS suggested holding the discussions back-to-back with COP-
5. The EU, CANADA, the US and AUSTRALIA supported 
holding it prior to COP-5 in order to better prepare for and partici-
pate more fully in that meeting. AUSTRALIA noted that the 
Protocol is breaking new ground in international law and recom-
mended examining other compliance models. CANADA said the 
discussions would allow more effective use of scarce time and 
resources and, with the EU, said it would provide an opportunity 
for “mutual learning.” The US stressed that compliance is an urgent 
matter and must be completed by COP-6. Co-Chair Dovland 
proposed further consultations. The JWG will re-consider the issue 
on Thursday. 

CONTACT GROUPS
Joint Contact Group on Mechanisms: The G-77/CHINA 

introduced its position paper on the clean development mechanism 
(CDM), highlighting the CDM’s role in assisting developing coun-



Wednesday, 9 June 1999  Vol. 12 No. 107 Page 2
����� ��	
�����
�
 ��������

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

tries in achieving sustainable development and developed countries 
in complying with their QELROs. He stressed the need to decide on 
principles before addressing methodological issues and suggested 
creating an adaptation fund.

The group covered various elements of the Secretariat’s 
synthesis paper, identifying areas of convergence and divergence 
and exchanging views. On objectives, principles and purposes, the 
EU identified convergence on various areas, including cost effec-
tiveness, transparency and equity and divergence on issues, such as 
inter-tradeability. The G-77/CHINA recommended that its paper 
be the basis for future negotiations. CHINA identified issues 
missing from the Secretariat’s synthesis report but covered in the 
G-77/China paper, including transparency and climate change 
effectiveness. He said discussions should focus on the clusters--
principles, methodologies and institutional issues--recommended 
in the Buenos Aires Plan of Action. The US identified the areas of 
convergence as being those that recognize, inter alia, private sector 
participation in the CDM and the need for baselines to precede use 
of the mechanisms. PERU recommended a common baseline for 
joint implementation and the CDM. She said such an approach 
would, inter alia: provide a simple, transparent and reliable meth-
odology for common baseline application, as the regional average 
of Annex II in energy and other sectors would constitute the calcu-
lation basis; and ensure environmental integrity in emissions 
reductions.

Regarding legal entities, the EU identified convergence on the 
involvement of other entities and added that Parties should be 
responsible for them.  She said the COP/MOP should designate 
operational entities.  NORWAY, supported by CANADA, said 
operational entities were a key element for CDM institutional 
structure. He added that they should be drawn from the private 
sector, independent, centralized and accredited by the Executive 
Board. On project eligibility, the US stressed the need for a 
comprehensive approach to certification and verification, including 
options for baselines. The G-77/CHINA said project eligibility is 
central to the principle, nature and scope of the CDM. NORWAY 
noted that there was no section on baselines in the synthesis report. 
KOREA said project eligibility and baselines are essential in 
formulating CDM rules. He said eligible projects should demon-
strate greenhouse gas reduction and investment, financial and tech-
nology additionality. On the eligibility of sink projects, the EU 
preferred their exclusion pending a decision by the COP. 

Regarding the contribution to sustainable development, the G-
77/CHINA said the recipient country should be the sole judge of 
whether a project meets its sustainable development priorities. 
NORWAY proposed that this be determined under project registra-
tion. The EU suggested that non-Annex I Parties confirm in writing 
how a project would help it achieve sustainable development and 
stressed that the project activity should be consistent with all inter-
national agreements to which the Parties involved belong. CHINA 
suggested applying a similar condition to the funding country to 
confirm how a CDM would result in certified emissions reductions 
(CERs).

On sequestration, CANADA, supported by NORWAY and 
IRAN, proposed addressing this under project eligibility. The G-
77/CHINA said discussions on sequestration should be avoided 
until ongoing studies by SBSTA and IPCC are concluded. The EU 
reiterated its preference to exclude sequestration pending a COP 
decision.

On technology transfer, the US identified convergence on the 
CDM’s role in facilitating technology transfer. On technology 
transfer and project financing, the G-77/CHINA highlighted the 
dimension of additionality, a feature absent in the Chair’s draft. He 
said funding for CDM projects should be additional to GEF, ODA 
and other developed country financial commitments. 

On supplementarity, the G-77/CHINA highlighted the primacy 
of domestic action and recommended the development of guide-
lines on supplementarity. The EU stressed the importance of the 
issue and the primacy of domestic action, and proposed a concrete 
ceiling. The US noted possible divergence on this issue. On levies, 
the G-77/CHINA highlighted establishing an adaptation fund. The 
US questioned how this fund would be managed and its proceeds 
dispersed. On CERs, the G-77/CHINA suggested discussing them 
bearing in mind the purposes of the CDM.

LULUCF: The LULUCF contact group met in the morning to 
consider draft conclusions that contained a compilation of addi-
tional proposals by Parties based on ideas emerging from the 
group’s earlier discussions. Participants accepted wording 
suggested by the US and amended by the EU and the G-77/China 
for a paragraph inviting the IPCC, in conjunction with SBSTA-11, 
to provide an in-depth progress report and a special side event on 
the draft IPCC Special Report on LULUCF. Members of the group 
reconvened in the afternoon for informal consultations and negoti-
ated text that cleared most of the remaining brackets. The full 
contact group at its next meeting will consider their recommenda-
tions.

Non-Annex I Communications: The non-Annex I communi-
cations contact group met in an evening session and discussed 
proposals submitted by the EU and the G-77/China for the draft 
decision. Participants discussed key issues in the two documents 
that could be included in the decision, such as the G-77/China’s 
suggestion of a non-Annex I expert group and the EU’s proposal 
for technical assessments. A number of delegates expressed 
concern at the differences between the two texts and the potential 
difficulties in finding common ground between them. The group 
decided to reconvene to consider how to proceed. 

IN THE CORRIDORS
“Delays, delays, delays” was how several observers summa-

rized the meeting thus far. Some suggested that the deceptively 
distant deadlines for decisions are feeding the temptation to leave 
substantive discussions to the last minute. A number said a sense of 
lethargy was inevitable following the heady days of Kyoto, while 
others cited increasingly poor prospects for ratification by the US 
as a cause of hesitation. An EU delegate remarked that the partici-
pants should “get the environment and emotion back into the 
debate because it is getting very depressing.” With the meeting 
entering its final days, some predicted that progress at COP-5 will 
be patchy at best, with the modest advances likely on guidelines for 
Annex I national communications offset by the snail’s pace of talks 
on LULUCF and mechanisms. Other delays took on a more 
ominous tone, as evidenced by a bomb threat to the Secretariat 
headquarters and a second bomb threat to the Maritim. 

THINGS TO LOOK FOR TODAY
Joint contact group on mechanisms: This group will meet at 

3:00 pm in the Maritim.
Contact group on the budget: This group will meet at 4:00 pm 

in a room TBA. 
Consult the meeting board for other meetings.


